
Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

1 

 

Present:  W. Hutchins, Chairman; W. Contardo, Vice Chair; D. Richards, G. Denio, L. Guild, J. 
Tivnan, D. Vachon, H. McLean, D. Bownes 

 
Absent: J. Mailloux 

 
Staff: S. Saunders, B. Loughlin  

 
I. Call to Order 

W. Hutchins called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. He confirmed there was a quorum.  
 

II. Continued Public Hearings 
1. Appl# PL2014-0108SU 
47 Cedar St MBL 427-36-54 ~waiver for sidewalks 
Proposal to subdivide one lot into two 
(This application has been withdrawn per applicant’s request) 
 
S. Saunders explained the applicant submitted a request to withdraw the application without 
prejudice. The applicant went before City Council to have the lots unmerged instead.  
 
Motion: D. Richards made the motion to approve the withdrawal without prejudice. G. Denio 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
2.  Consideration of updating Section 6.2 of the Subdivision Regulations to include the method 
for early street acceptance as recommended by City Council 
 
S. Saunders went over the papers that had been passed out. A lot of what was being asked for 
was already in the regulations. She reached out to other towns and most of the towns have at 
least one season/year before a road is accepted. Franklin allows waivers. Other towns’ site 
security percentages range from 120% to full completion of the street. Some towns have city 
services before the streets are accepted, but have signs stating a private street. She received the 
subdivision regulations or the policy of other towns to help with wording on Laconia’s. S. Saunders 
went through the document for the Board. The document is a policy with a clear checklist. There 
is a part stating that 50% of units in the development should have Certificate of Occupancy before 
the applicant can submit a request for road acceptance. A third party inspector is proposed and 
they would use the checklist from the policy. The beginning of this process is already happening, 
it’s just now in writing. This Laconia draft checklist is fashioned after the town of Bow and their 
checklist. Staff thinks that the clear process meets what the developers are looking for. W. 
Contardo asked if the developer didn’t know upfront would it behoove the developer to get the 
third party inspector and S. Saunders said the process wouldn’t be expedited, they would still go 
through the process. The policy would be given to the developer at the preconstruction meeting.  
 
S. Saunders wants to make sure the document works and there are no more questions. If the 
document is ok, then it would go to the next meeting to be posted as a legal document and be 
accepted. The only change was the 12 months of base course pavement be down and not just the 
utilities. S. Saunders noted that L. Powell would be able to come to the next meeting if needed. 



Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

2 

 

W. Contardo’s concern was the bonding of projects. He asked if there could be an option to 
include only local bond companies and D. Bownes said that would run into resistance with Council 
and possibly City Manager Myers. The City would like to avoid past issues. S. Saunders mentioned 
she put in a call to Legal Counsel and had not heard back. S. Saunders gave the background of the 
bond issue. W. Contardo asked if the bond could be restrict to only New England companies and 
D. Bownes suggested putting language in. S. Saunders said they did that with the Letter of Credit 
but S. Saunders will find out. W. Hutchins asked if there is an opportunity to raise the amounts 
due to the price rise. S. Saunders said DPW thinks the amount of time between collecting site 
security and project completion is so little it shouldn’t be significant and if it comes to years then 
that could be looked at. J. Tivnan asked if there could be an escalation clause put in the language 
at the beginning and then a time frame. S. Saunders will look into that. H. McLean asked if the 
contractor gets a performance bond with construction so the City could finish the work if it is not 
completed and S. Saunders thinks there would be hesitation on that because the DPW would need 
to fit that in the construction schedule. H. McLean said the performance bond is paid by the 
contractor not the City. D. Bownes doesn’t agree with that. H. McLean clarified that the base 
course would need to be down but the performance bond would take the place of the waiting 
period. S. Saunders noted that part of the reason for the 12 month wait period is the factors that 
come out with drainage and soils, or the road may shift, so that period allows for settling and 
these unknown factors. S. Saunders said DPW doesn’t build Laconia roads but gets bid out. W. 
Hutchins said there could be a waiver and it could be dealt with at that time. Typically bonds are 
12 months and are renewable. S. Saunders the money would protect the City from the developer 
walking away and have the punch list completed in case of failure.  
 
S. Saunders noted that once the road is accepted it is the City’s responsibility. W. Contardo asked 
why can’t Laconia do what Dover does and have some services before acceptance and just have 
it posted. S. Saunders the current insurance company won’t allow that and the City will not be 
covered if an accident happened. S. Saunders said the document can be approved with the 
language if it’s acceptable with Legal Counsel. W. Hutchins would like to add in the subdivision 
regulations that all streets except cluster developments be built to City standards. Currently, 
private roads can be built however they want and the landowner does not get any services. All 
buildings are taxed the same. W. Contardo noted that Southdown pays for sewer, plowing, trash 
pickup and busses, which other residents get from the City without paying extra. H. McLean asked 
if Laconia is the only one where taxes are different and L. Guild told his experience at Gunstock 
Acres. The town was told to take over the roads because the same taxes were being paid as the 
rest of the residents, yet not getting the services and had a two year window to do so.  
 
W. Hutchins noted now is a good time to add to the subdivision regulations while they are 
amending the regulations with the early acceptance.  D. Richards said the whole point of street 
acceptance is to have the City own the street in the future. L. Guild said Gilford had a surtax which 
was paid over ten years. W. Hutchins said K. Morrissette builds roads to City standards from the 
beginning, but not all developers do. S. Saunders added that it would be easy to add to the 
subdivision regulations for next month’s meeting. D. Bownes not in favor of voting on adding that 
all public road needs to be built by City standard by February. He felt he didn’t have enough 
information. He asked where the 50% of houses needing to have a Certificate of Occupancy came 
from and S. Saunders said Gilford and Meredith have that and that she was asked to add that in 



Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

3 

 

the document. W. Hutchins feels that 50% is fair. Development is encouraged but acceptance of 
a street should be used as a sales tool. S. Saunders said other towns have a time frame, not a 
percentage. W. Hutchins said the opportunity for a developer to sell lots is based on the economic 
proposal. D. Bownes assumes the tax rate for the lot whether built on or not is taxed the same.  
 
Public: Kevin Morrissette, of 518 Shore Drive said he has looked at the document and had no 
problem other than the 50%. He feels the 12 months is fine and it shouldn’t matter how many 
houses have been put in. He noted that a child can’t be put in the school system without a 
residence. Vacant lots make the most money for the City. Having the street accepted by the City 
is a selling tool. W. Contardo asked how long it took to sell out on Sarah Circle and was told 10 
years. D. Bownes asked how many lots and houses were on Linny Lane and was told it was 
approved for a 20 lot subdivision and he currently has 4 CO’s and 2 lots were sold to people that 
don’t want to build. As a taxpayer, he feels the City should not take bonds, it is too risky and more 
work for administration to oversee. There might be loopholes and when in doubt cash is best. He 
feels that cash is best for early street acceptance as well. W. Hutchins noted that many developers 
get approved and then cannot follow through with the development. K. Morrissette added that if 
a project is originally proposed as a City street, it would be better. W. Hutchins agreed.  
 
W. Hutchins closed the public hearing.  
 
D. Bownes asked if the document is approved tonight as is for public hearing and  noticed as such, 
can it then be amended at the public hearing next month and be the final and S. Saunders said 
once posted as a public hearing  it only  needed to be reposted if the wording substantially 
changed.  
 
Motion: J. Tivnan made the motion to accept the document as is. W. Hutchins seconded the 
motion. H. McLean asked what the risk to the City would be to eliminate the 50% and W. Hutchins 
said that the cost to maintain the accepted street will be greater than the revenue from tax 
dollars. D. Bownes said Linny Lane is a good example and he doesn’t see a downside in eliminating 
the 50%, and suggested a lower percentage. D. Richards asked if the Board could live with two 
units and W. Hutchins said no. He noted that some of the developments have hundreds of units. 
H. McLean feels comfortable on how the Board arrived at the percentage. S. Saunders feels there 
should be a percentage of units complete. The purpose of street acceptance is to provide public 
need. There needs to be a good reason for the acceptance. She suggested a different percentage. 
W. Contardo would go with 10-15%.  
 
D. Bownes amended the motion to amend paragraph one to say 10%. He knows that the Board 
wants to promote responsible development and the fast tract does that and gives advantage to 
the City. D. Richards seconded the motion. W. Contardo asked at what point to not provide 
services. The motion failed with a tie 4 – 4.   
 
W. Contardo amended the motion to 20%. D. Richards seconded the motion. The motion passed 
5-3. S. Saunders asked if the bonding issue was still in need to be checked out and reminded the 
Board that would be another amendment.  
 



Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

4 

 

W. Contardo made the motion to amend the document if bonding is acceptable to Legal Counsel 
that it be put in with conditions. D. Richards seconded the motion. D. Bownes asked what happens 
if Legal Counsel says there is no way for the bond to satisfy the City at the public hearing. S. 
Saunders would make the decision to not add in that language. G. Denio requested the Finance 
office be contacted as well. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
D. Richards made the motion to approve the document as a whole. W. Contardo seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

III. Public Hearings  
None 
 

IV. Extensions 
None 
 

V. Application Acceptance 
1. Appl# PL2014-0127SP, 0132CUP (wetland) 
492 Endicott Street North  
Proposal to construct a paintball park 
 
S. Saunders told the Board the application was complete and ready for scheduling the public 
hearing in February.  
 
Motion: D. Richards made the motion to accept the application as complete and scheduled the 
public hearing for February 3, 2015. D. Bownes seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously. 
 
D. Richards asked if approvals were done by the State and S. Saunders said the drainage culvert 
has been approved. She noted the use falls under outdoor recreation and that is allowed in the 
zone.  
 

VI. New Business 
1. Master Plan update 
 
S. Saunders went over the Values hand out. The document is a combination of the NH Listens 
event and 400 data points from the online survey and interviews that have been done and 
analyzed. The plan is to take the draft out to the community to make sure the values are right. 
They will then be taken and whittled down to a statement. She asked the Board to let staff know 
if anything should be changed, and what is liked and what is not. Staff will finalize the format in 
the next week or so. The subcommittee will be formed for the rest of the chapters. H. McLean 
asked how the economic chapter was coming along and S. Saunders said they have looked at a 
number of different plans from other towns and will have a list of factors to present to the 
subcommittee. Most of the public sources are State and Regional. They are not getting Laconia 
specific trends. There are paid for sources. H. McLean noted the State would have some Laconia 
data.  



Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

5 

 

 
VII. Old Business 

1. Update on Zoning Ordinance: Weirs Use Chart 
 
S. Saunders told the Board they talked with Weirs Action Committee (WAC) and asked how to 
approach the people in the area because this would be a Weirs based ordinance change and most 
of the residents are not in the area this time of year. The feedback she received was that it’s best 
to contact folks through the internet. A website link for the Zoning Task Force (ZTF) was started. 
Staff is in process of creating a survey to start the outreach process. ZTF is interested in having a 
public hearing combined with a Planning Board meeting to hear input. S. Saunders noted it could 
be done on January 27. There was discussion on when to have the meeting and the Board agreed 
to put the public hearing on the February agenda. S. Saunders stated that the website link will be 
sent to the Weirs community. W. Contardo asked how many people will be reached out to and S. 
Saunders not sure. She will reach out to at least 25 but the rest will be reached out from the WAC 
president. W. Contardo thought the idea was to reach out to everyone and not just businesses or 
WAC members. S. Saunders said she will try to get it passed on. W. Contardo asked if 3 weeks is 
going to be enough and S. Saunders thinks so. D. Bownes asked S. Saunders to forward that 
information to the Council and the Mayor.  
 

VIII. Reports 
A. Planning Department Report: S. Saunders told the Board the ZTF is meeting Thurs, Jan 15 

at 11 am. They will be talking about the use chart. Another thing on the docket is drafting 
an ordinance for medical marijuana facility. Laconia been approached and other 
communities have shot the facility down. She feels it better to be ahead of the game and 
have regulations on the books as to where in the City and what security would be needed; 
to be active and not reactive like with the methadone treatment facility. Dover and 
Concord are the only other towns that have regulations set. Language is from the State 
rules and the RSA. There will probably be a draft before the Board in February, but not a 
public hearing. S. Saunders said we can’t say no, and has to be allowed in the community.  

B. KFC has been demolished. There was an issue on the drainage pipe but they are moving 
forward and working on a secondary system. 

C. Chinburg’s apartment building is almost finished, she signed the eclectic permit today. 
D. WOW trail phase 2 is moving forward and might be seen before the Board in March or 

April. The trail will go from behind the library to Belmont.  
E. Code enforcement update: have started taking property violations to court. Three 

properties have gone to court. One came to settlement agreement, another will soon be 
settled and the last will probably need to go back to court. There might also be another 
two more properties heading to court. Violations include property maintenance and faulty 
structure issues. J. Tivnan noted that Meredith has a new Code Enforcement officer. L. 
Guild asked behind the Irving gas station on Union Ave, there is a plateau and was told that 
they were going to build and S. Saunders said she signed a building permit for a single 
family house with garage for the owner. S. Saunders said the driveway situation was 
worked out with DPW. L. Guild asked if the heavy equipment will stay and S. Saunders said 
it has to be stored in the garage and can only be taken out in the morning and brought in 
at night. There will be no going in an out all day long. Has to look and sound as a residential 



Laconia Planning Board Minutes January 6, 2015 

Approved February 3, 2015 

6 

 

property. If the rules are broken, there will be enforcement. If the property is not in 
compliance then they will go to court.  
 

IX. Liaison Reports 
A.  Lakes Region Planning Commission: W. Hutchins told the Board according to the RSA 
Laconia can have 3 representatives. Currently there are only two, he and Dean Anson. W. 
Hutchins made a motion to nominate H. McLean to be a LRPC representative.  L. Guild 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. W. Hutchins asked S. Saunders to 
forward the recommendation to LRPC. W. Hutchins continued saying there are a lot of 
bills put in the legislature and LRPC looks them over to see which impact land use 
regulations. LRCP is completing the local emergency operations plans.  
B.  Conservation Commission: W. Contardo mentioned there is a five year plan for milfoil 
control of Paugus Bay without the use of 2-4-D, the “Soak up the Rain” Stormwater 
outreach project going on. Con Com is working jointly with NHDES and Belknap County 
Conservation District to create trained home rain garden experts to assist the public to 
reduce sheet flows on their property, creating an open space mailer to encourage land 
owners to consider conservation easements on their property went out.  
C.  City Council: D. Bownes told the Board he missed the last Council meeting. But does 
know that Linny Lane was adopted.  
 

X. Other Business  
None 
 

XI. Minutes 
Approval of the minutes from December 2 and reapprove the revised minutes from Nov 3 
 
Motion: D. Bownes made the motion to approve both sets of minutes. G. Denio seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

XII. Adjournment 
Motion: D. Bownes made the motion to adjourn and D. Richards seconded the motion.  
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:50 pm. 
 
Respectfully, 
K. Graham` 


	Absent: J. Mailloux
	Staff: S. Saunders, B. Loughlin

